



Empowering Youths in STEM through the Arts





Co-funded by the European Union





TABLE OF CONTENTS

Empowering Youths in STEM through the Arts Review of Literature	4
Introduction	4
What is meant by STEM education through the Arts?	4
What is the science education set-up like in Malta?	5
STEM subject uptake in Malta- A Statistical Analysis	5
What are the current projects and initiatives in Malta with regard to the promotion of STEM	
careers amongst the youth?	6
How can informal learning sectors engage youths with STEM-related subjects?	6
In what ways are science and art related to each other?	7
Is there local data available establishing what skills sets are currently missing in specific STEM	
jobs?	8
Establishing the skills sets which are missing in STEM- related jobs Which STEM careers have a difficulty in attracting youths? What affects uptake of certain	8
careers over others? (e.g., gender issues, stereotypes, and so on)	9
Do other European countries have an issue with STEM and the youths too?	10
Are there any programmes - courses relating to this topic which are practiced abroad?	. 11
Conclusion	12
References	13



EMPOWERING YOUTHS IN STEM THROUGH THE ARTS REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Introduction

In the last two decades, Malta has experienced a deficit in the number of youths who choose and over-achieved in STEM-related subjects during compulsory schooling. This reflects latest results obtained from the 2018 Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) and the 2019 Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS). This can be attributed to the fact that both reports shed light on Maltese students' low achievement in mathematics when compared to other countries particularly Finland, Singapore, and Norway (Magri, 2020).

Apart from this, there was also a decrease in the number of youths who take up STEM- subjects during their secondary schooling, particularly when there was the introduction of vocational subjects in state schools with the aim of catering more for students' different learning styles. In fact, from 2004 up to 2017, Malta registered a drastic decline in the number of students who apply for MATSEC exams in biology, physics, and chemistry with the latter being the subject least chosen by youths (Musumeci and Pirotta, 2018). In the face of this worrisome situation, this review of literature aims to improve the current situation and suggest alternative ways that can inspire youths to choose STEM-related subjects.

What is meant by STEM education through the Arts?

STEM is an acronym for science, technology, engineering, and mathematics. Literature defines STEM education as an interdisciplinary approach to learning where rigorous academic concepts are coupled with real-world concepts as students apply science, technology, engineering, and mathematics in contexts that make connections between school, community, work, and the global enterprise enabling the development of STEM literacy and with it the ability to compete in the new global economy (Tsupros, 2009). As is often mistakenly believed, STEM is not synonymous with STEAM (Science, Technology, Engineering, Art, and Mathematics). The inclusion of the arts introduces new competencies and skills, including active learning; social, emotional, and interpersonal skills; divergent thinking; and cultural competency. In turn, these offer unique applications to school, work, and life. Hence, the arts provide an opportunity to reinforce learning and cognitive development in meaningful and intentional ways (Dell'Erba, 2019; Huser et al. 2020). This is one of the main reasons why this project is aiming to engage more youths in STEM through the inclusion of arts.

What is the science education set-up like in Malta?

Furthermore, science education is now experiencing another transformational change on both a local and international level. Research is pinpointing the importance of adopting a more inquirybased approach to science teaching and learning and to give more autonomy to students to be responsible for their own learning. Inquiry-based learning can be defined as a learning method where students are actively involved in their learning process. This is because, during the process of learning, students play an important role in their own learning by gaining the necessary skills that they need to articulate questions, perform scientific investigations and build new knowledge from the previously performed investigations (Branch and Oberg, 2004). Hence, inquiry-based learning gives students a sense of ownership over their own learning and cognitive development (Bache and Hayton, 2012). The inclusion of this approach in the new science national curriculum framework, reviewed as recently as 2018 (see Directorate for Learning and Assessment Programmes, 2018) and the reference to inquiry-based learning in the policy document *A vision to science education in Malta* (Ministry for Education and Employment, 2014), indicate that Malta is moving towards the science education system practised by other countries such as the United Kingdom (National Curriculum in England, 2014) and Finland (Harlen, 2013).

Science education has been part of the Maltese curriculum for over two centuries (Gatt, 2000). However, its importance and relevance to people's lives is quite a recent phenomenon. The latter can be supported by the ongoing changes that are currently taking place in science curricula and modes of science teaching as early as primary schooling. This is because research is shedding more light on the importance of introducing science to students as early as their primary school days (Oppliger, Oppliger, Raber, and Warrington, 2007; Willsher and Penman, 2011) since this makes it more likely for them to continue studying science at later stages of their education system and to pursue careers in science. A related study also shows that STEM engagement in the primary years of schooling determines student's subject choices when they start their secondary schooling (Marginson et al. 2013).

STEM subject uptake in Malta- A Statistical Analysis

According to a local study, the number of students who register for SEC exams in biology, chemistry, and physics has experienced a decline over a period of 10 years (Azzopardi and Musumeci, 2018). This is particularly true for females than for males; this indicates that the stereotypical perception that science is for boys persists in Malta. Such gender bias is true for all fields of STEM, particularly for physics, engineering, and maths and could be attributed to a number of factors.

One such factor is related to the gender role stereotypes which influence the decisions that people take and their aspirations towards science subjects. Women and girls are still expected by society to opt for subjects that are perceived to be softer such as the arts and the languages as opposed to men who are still perceived to be suited for harder occupations, managerial and administrative occupations and as having the responsibility of raising a family (Buhagiar, 2020).

Such a trend is also evident in post-compulsory education and at university level. This could be attributed to the fact that most students hold the perception that STEM subjects at higher education levels are too complex and very difficult to succeed in, attain gain good grades in, and subsequently get a career in the science sector (Magro, 2018).

What are the current projects and initiatives in Malta with regard to the promotion of STEM careers amongst the youth?

After the publication of a vision for science education in Malta, several initiatives have been put into place by the Ministry of Education and Employment, the Chamber of Scienctists, and Esplora Interactive Science Centre, to name a few. Their main aim is that of encouraging more students to take up STEM-related subjects at school and to pursue careers in science. These projects include: Tiny Teen Science Cafés; Science Safari Kids; Fame Lab – Talking Science; and StartSTEM. These projects aim to:

- Combat gender stereotypes regarding STEM-related subjects from an early age of education (Sharklab-Malta, 2019);
- Engage primary school children and their parents with STEM-related subjects in an entertaining and joyful manner (Department of Information, 2020);
- Provide students with an opportunity to interact with STEM professionals, broaden their scientific knowledge, and recognise the value of collaboration within the scientific community (British Council, 2021);
- Encourage more youth to choose science-related subjects and pursue careers in STEM (Office of the Permanent Secretary, 2020).

How can informal learning sectors engage youths with STEM-related subjects?

Informal learning environments can be described as voluntary spaces where participants engage in activities that are not in line with the stringent curricula characteristic of formal learning (Hofstein and Rosenfeld, 1996). Such settings range from community and family activities (e.g., Bricker and Bell 2014; Zimmerman 2012) to more intentionally- designed spaces where trained professionals guide participants in hands-on experiences. Such areas include museums and science centers, summer camps, and community-based science youth programmes (Hofstein and Rosenfeld 1996) such as science clubs and science camps.

Informal learning provides an open-ended experience, and hence, promotes accidental learning (Sefton-Green 2013). Furthermore, such spaces equip learners in skills relating to solving for undefined problems that are complex and ambiguous rather than algorithmic and pre-determined (see Jonassen, 2000; Stewart and Jordan, 2017). Informal learning sectors also promote social interaction between STEM professionals and the general public. As such, this could be regarded as a clear indication that informal learning differs starkly from formal learning settings and might be more likely to engage youth with STEM-related subjects. For this study, focus will be placed on informal learning in science centres. Science learning amongst youth in science centre's demands special considerations since, youths are believed to be a crucial audience in the development of informal education strategies in the fields of STEM (NRC, 2009).

In what ways are science and art related to each other?

Throughout history, the sciences and the arts have been always perceived as two contradictory fields of thought. Some of the main reasons for this could be attributed to the significant number of misconceptions that exist in relation to the link that exists between the arts and the sciences. These include, but are not limited to, the fact that:

- the arts have been regarded as an expression of human feelings and emotions whilst science as that of a pursuit of the ultimate truth; and
- several schools of thought perceive the arts as being aesthetically pleasing but not essential as opposed to the science which are perceived as fundamental for the present and the future.

Despite this, current research is striving to debunk these inaccurate ideas and raise more awareness on the importance of complementing science with the arts and the arts with sciences. Some of the big questions dominating the relevant literature are whether the personal side of science can be utilised to engage in research in the arts and if artistic considerations can be utilised to do science (Eisner and Powell, 2002). Such link is now more important than ever since the predominant trend in contemporary practice is that, when the arts and science are linked together, a new way of exploration occurs, and this often results in a new knowledge invention that can lead to the achievement of industrial revolution 4.0 (Adzaman, Mokhtar and Musa, 2020). Apart from this, the proximity between the fields of science and art brings scientists and artists together and this assists them in enhancing their communication skills with the public. This, in turn, enables the public to better comprehend both fields in a clearer manner (Ede, 2005).

In line with this, science centres and science museums have recognized the importance of including art in their interactive exhibits. For instance, the Exploratorium museum in the United States has long been noted for its artist-in-residence program (Mintz, 2005), whilst Malta's Interactive Science Centre, Esplora, works in direct collaboration with the Arts Council to bridge the gap between the two fields. This strategy brings a wider range of visitors to science centres, particularly those coming from low socio-economic strata that cannot afford to visit art museums, and youths, most of whom are still financially dependent on their parents. On the other side of the coin, however, several issues arise: does this approach assist science museums and science

centres in creating the same level of cachet as art museums? Should science centres focus on deepening their connections throughout their communities, rather than trying to become what some describe as "clubhouses" for the disadvantaged audience? Would this really increase the number of youths who visit science centres and science museums?

Is there local data available establishing what skills sets are currently missing in specific STEM jobs?

ESTABLISHING THE SKILLS SETS WHICH ARE MISSING IN STEM-RELATED JOBS

Even though Malta has experienced an upsurge in the number of citizens in employment, there is still a deficit in the number of citizens that have the skills needed to be competent in the world of work (National Employee Skills Survey, 2017). This, in turn, has led to several initiatives and programmes aimed at increasing the number of citizens that master entrepreneurial skills. This is important especially in STEM-related jobs where the evolution of new technological advances has brought with it the necessity for people to gain completely new skills to be suitable for such jobs. In line with this, Malta has been working in direct collaboration with CEDEFOP and other EU member states to: embrace scientific approaches; forecast prospective emerging sectors and their corresponding required skills; and strategically plan new reforms and education programmes that could assist today's citizens to gain all the required skills needed to enter these new work niches.

Furthermore, recent statistics show that nearly half of the Maltese population of an employment age is deficient in digital skills. This contrasts with the EU average which adds up to 41% of the total number of European citizens. This should be regarded as a worrisome situation since STEM-related jobs entail a workforce that is digitally literate (National Employee Skills Survey, 2017).

This problematic issue is not restricted to Malta. In fact, in a European Commission report entitled "Europe needs more scientists" (Gago et al. 2005), reference is made to the importance of sustaining and increasing the number of STEM experts to drive today's technologically competitive Europe. The report suggests that today's school science education should better reflect real science experience and address the needs and desires of young people in a more effective manner (Osborne, Tytler, Clarke, 2008). Literature identifies four main contributing factors that are further reinforcing such an upsurge in the number of people that are not skilled to enter STEM-related jobs. These are:

- students' negative attitudes towards science as they move from their primary to secondary years of schooling, further reinforcing the issue that awareness on STEM-related careers should start from a very young age as previously mentioned;
- the drastic decline in the number of students, particularly girls (Bøe, Henriksen, Lyons and Schreiner, 2011), who choose science subjects during their post-secondary years of schooling;
- the deficit in the number of teaching professionals who are skilled in STEM-related working sectors; and

• the shortage in the number of qualified science educators (Tytler, 2007).

In addition to this, demand in STEM occupations is directly related to a country's economic status and employment rate. The higher the rate of employment, the higher the demand for employees who are competent to work in STEM- related fields. That being said, there are even some professions where the demand for STEM-competent employees in the labour market is far higher than the supply. The latter is true for engineering, mathematics, the earth sciences, chemistry, and statistics (DEST, 2006a).

As a result of this, there is a dire need for governmental bodies to start setting new reforms within the current education system and which substantiate the introduction of STEM in compulsory schooling. This could eventually result in an increase in the number of scientifically literate students and an innovative STEM workforce being in the pipeline (White House, 2009). In conjunction, science career exhibitions and career awareness informal talks can also play a pivotal role in raising the interest of youths in taking up STEM subjects and pursue scientific careers (Wu-Rorrer, 2017).

As such, non-formal science sectors can also have the potential to facilitate people in gaining the skills that they need to be competent in STEM-related careers. The ability to integrate knowledge and skills to solve problems, make sense of information in a logical manner, and collect and evaluate evidence before taking a final and well-informed decision, can be regarded as among the most important skills needed in today's STEM jobs (Lanthan, n.d.).

Which STEM careers have a difficulty in attracting youths? What affects uptake of certain careers over others? (e.g., gender issues, stereotypes, and so on)

Studies show that the field of engineering is usually the one that attracts the least number of youths for the simple reason that many young adults perceive mathematics and science as not enjoyable subjects to study despite being a prerequisite to excel in engineering (The National Academies, 2008; Hasna and Clark, 2009). Contrarily, there was a slight increase in the number of youths who choose a career in technology. This could be attributed to several reasons, namely among the fact that today's youths are raised in a society dominated by technology and there is also research showing how this influences job satisfaction (Chepseba, Kiflemariam, and Nziwa, 2018), even more now that most youth are digitally literate (Anderson, Chen, and Schroeder, 2013).

The most cited factors that influence youth subject choice on both a local and international level include but are not limited to:

Gender – Gender stereotypes (Archer et al., 2013; Cundiff, Vescio, Loken, and Lo, 2013) persist in influencing youth's STEM subject choice, with females choosing subjects that are stereotypically regarded as "girlish" such as health, social, and biological sciences, with males choosing subjects like mathematics, chemical and physical sciences (Fullarton and Ainley, 2000; Sikora, 2014; Sikora and Pokropek, 2012)

- **Socio-economic status (SES)** Students coming from families that have a high-SES status are more likely to pursue careers in science as opposed to students coming from disadvantaged families (Fullarton & Ainley, 2000)
- **Ethnicity** Youth whose parents are born in a non-English speaking country are more likely to study mathematics and physical sciences than their counterparts who are born in English-speaking countries (Fullarton and Ainley, 2000)
- **Personal traits** Students' perceived usefulness (personal value), self-perception of ability (self-concept) and the level of enjoyment in science and mathematics positively influenced their subject choices (Tripney et al. 2010)
- **Peer pressure** Youth interaction with their peers is likely to leave an influence and can be crucial for the students to determine their subject choice (De Giorgi, 2010; Moldes, Biton, Gonzaga and Moneva, 2019)
- **Familial background** Family plays a significant role in assisting students in shaping their engagement, aspirations, and achievement/attainment in science (Aschbacher, Li and Roth, 2010; Ferry, Fouad, and Smith, 2000; Gilmartin, Li and Aschbacher, 2006; Stake, 2006; Archer et al., 2012).
- **Teacher-student relationship** Teacher's pedagogical approaches, sense of humour, and enthusiasm should be directly correlated to an increase in students' interest in science (Palmer, 2007; Logan and Skamp, 2013);
- School culture School sector (government/Catholic/independent), school gender (single sex/co-educational), location (urban/rural), and school size are factors that have been widely reported as influences on STEM participation (Daly & Ainley, 1999). Students attending independent schools are 1.5 times more likely to enrol in physical sciences (Fullarton and Ainley, 2000). A school's decision to offer subjects such as physics, chemistry and biology has a direct influence on participation rates in these subjects (Smyth & Hannan, 2006).

Do other European countries have an issue with STEM and the youths too?

The lack of participation of youths in STEM is not a phenomenon restricted to the Maltese islands. This could be attributed to the fact that the young population aged between 15 and 19 years demands special attention. Being a critical demographic cohort, it is far harder to develop education strategies in both formal and informal science education (NRC, 2009). Literature suggests hindering youth from freely choosing their own learning choices, determined by their own motivations, sustained engagement, and curiosities further results in students' lack of interest in STEM-related subjects (Massarani, et al. 2019). Furthermore, research suggests that, as from 2009, the share of low achievers in science, irrespective of gender, has drastically declined in most European countries, expect for Greece, Hungary, Portugal, Slovakia, Sweden, Norway, and Iceland where the opposite trend is recorded. Despite this, Europe still has a worrying number of

pupils with very low basic skills necessary for the world of work and progress is lacking behind, particularly in mathematics (European Commission, 2015).

That is one main reason why other initiatives are being put forward by the EU Commission to widen the uptake and dissemination of STEM education practices. The Commission is also recognising that informal science institutions and events are inspiring and mobilising young adults more than ever before. For instance, the annual European Union Contest for Young Scientists (EUCYS) (European Commission, n.d.) is one of Europe's leading events for showcasing young scientific talent. It brings together winners of national science competitions where the main protagonists are young people between 14 and 20 years of age who compete together with their European counterparts.

Are there any programmes - courses relating to this topic which are practiced abroad?

Literature shows that engaging youth in science through the arts in non-formal learning institutions such as science centres and museums is quite challenging. The latter could be attributed to the fact that adolescence is usually a turbulent time due to constant changes on the physical, hormonal, intellectual and social levels. This factor has formed the basis of a decade-long investment by the Wallace Foundation in the development of the YouthALIVE! programmes featuring up to 70 science centres and museums aiming to support and encourage youth from underserved communities to choose STEM subjects and pursue careers in STEM (ASTC, 2014).

Another interesting EU-funded initiative from 2016-2018, called "PERFORM," aims to examine the impact of creative science education approaches focused on performing arts in promoting young people's motivations and involvement with STEM in selected secondary schools in France, Spain, and the United Kingdom. PERFORM does so to bridge the gap between young people and science and to disrupt the unidirectional paradigm of scientific knowledge transfer. PERFORM has also brought together early career researchers (ECRs), performers, teachers, and high school students to create performance-based practices that looked at responsible research and innovation (RRI) and the social element of science (PERFORM, 2018). In turn, secondary school students engage in dialogue with researchers, have an active voice in the process of research and innovation and at the same time, gain a better understanding of the value in aligning science education with the arts and humanities (Eagle and James, n.d.).



CONCLUSION

This literature review has delved deeper into the challenges that Malta and other European countries are facing to engage youths in STEM and how interlinking the natural sciences with the arts can raise the bar and encourage more young adults to choose science subjects at school whilst pursuing careers in STEM. In conclusion, this overview should form the basis of the upcoming project since it gives a clear picture of the existing situation and sheds light on what should be done in the future to assist young people to see the relevance of being scientifically literate. This ties in with the fact that, countries throughout the world, need young people to become the future scientists and technologists so as to remain economically competitive. Technology and innovation are needed for humanity to solve the world's problems and that is why STEM-related employments are expected to increase in the coming years (Lytle and Shin, 2020).



REFERENCES

Adzaman, M. T. N., Mokhtar, M. and Musa, A. H. (2020). Integration between Art and Science. *Idealogy*, 5 (1), 93-108. http://idealogyjournal. com/ojs/index.php/idealogy/article/view/185

Anderson, D., Chen, F. and Schroender, K. (2013). *Innovation and Technology for Youth Employment* [PDF document]. United Nations. https://www.un.org/esa/socdev/egms/docs/2013/ict/innovation-technology-youth.pdf

Aschbacher, P. R., Li, E. and Roth, E. J. (2010). Is science me? High school students' identities, participation and aspirations in science, engineering, and medicine. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47, 564-582. DOI 10.1002/tea.20353

Association of Science-Technology Centers. (2014). Association of Science-Technology Centers: Handbook for Youth Programs: Introduction. Association of Science-Technology Centers Incorporated. https://www.astc.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/Full-Doc.pdf

Bache, I., and Hayton, R. (2012) Inquiry-based learning and the international student. *Teaching in Higher Education*, *17* (4), 411-23. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2011.640998

Bøe, M. V., Henriksen, E. K., Lyons, T. and Schreiner, C. (2011). Participation in science and technology: Young people's achievementrelated choices in late-modern societies. *Studies in Science Education, 47* (1), 37-72. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057267.2011.549621

Branch, J., and Oberg, D. (2004). *Focus on Inquiry: A Teacher's Guide to Implementing Inquiry-Based Learning*. Alberta: Alberta Learning.

Buhagiar, M. (2020, September 11). Women kept away from science in a system designed by men. *Maltatoday*. https://www.maltatoday.com. mt/news/national/104583/women_kept_away_from_science_in_a_ system_designed_by_men#.YIf7mJAzbtQ Chepseba, G., Kiflemariam, D. and Nziwa, S. E. (2018). Influence of Generation Y Characteristics on Job Satisfaction: The Case of Virtual City Limited. *Journal of Strategic Management, 2*(4), 1 - 20. https://stratfordjournals.org/journals/index.php/journal-of-strategic-management/article/ view/188

Daly, P. and Ainley, J. (1999). Student participation in mathematics courses in Australian secondary schools. *The Irish Journal of Education, 30*, 77–95. http://www.erc.ie/documents/ vol30chp5.pdf

De Giorgi, G., Pellizzari, M. and Redaelli, S. (2010) Identification of social interactions through partially overlapping peer groups. *American Economic Journal, 2* (2), 241-275. Retrieved from: https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/app.2.2.241

Dell'Erba, M. (2019). *Preparing Students for Learning, Work and Life Through STEAM Education*. Education Commission of the States. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED598088.pdf

Department for Education. (2014). *Science programmes of study: key stage 4 – National curriculum in England.* UK: Crown.https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/ system/uploads/attachment_data/file/381380/Science_KS4_PoS_7_November_2014.pdf

Department of Education, Science and Training. (2006). *Audit of science, engineering & technology skills.* (2nd ed.). Australia: Department of Education Science and Training.

Department of information (Malta) [Paper]. (n.d.). Facebook. https://www.facebook.com/ DOImalta/posts/science-safari-kids-will-once-again-be-organised-in-march-the-initiativetargets/2717536048292097/

Directorate for Quality and Standards in Education. (2018). *Learning Outcomes Framework Year* 7-Form 1. Department of Curriculum Management. https://curriculum.gov.mt/en/new_syllabi/ Documents/Year_07_08/Science_yr07_2018_LOF_Curriculum_plus_CCP.pdf

Directorate for Quality and Standards in Education. (2018). *Learning Outcomes Framework Year* 8-Form 2. Department of Curriculum Management. https://curriculum.gov.mt/en/new_syllabi/ Documents/Year_07_08/Science_yr08_2019_LOF_Curriculum_plus_CCP.pdf

Eagle, S., & James, J. (n.d.). Engaging students with science using performing arts. *PERFORM Project newsletter*. http://www.perform-research.eu/?page_id=3186

Eden, S. (2005). Art & Science. London: Tauris.

Eisner, E., & Powell, K. (2002). Art in science? *Curriculum Inquiry*, 32 (2), 131-159. doi:10.1111/1467-873X.00219

EU Contest for Young Scientists (EUCYS). (n.d.). *EU contest for young scientists (EUCYS). European Commission - European Commission*. https://ec.europa.eu/info/research-and-innovation/funding/funding-opportunities/eucys_en

European Commission. (2015). *EU Youth Report 2015*. Publications Office. https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/youth/library/reports/youth-report-2015_en.pdf

FameLab: Science communication competition. (n.d.). British Council | The UK's international culture and education organisation. https://www.britishcouncil.org/education/he-science/famelab

Ferry, T. R., Fouad, N. A. and Smith, P. L. (2000). The role of family context in a social cognitive model for career-related choice behaviour: A math and science perspective. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour, 57* (3), 348-364. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1999.1743

Fullarton, S. and Ainley, J. (2000). *Subject choice by students in Year 12 in Australian secondary schools* (LSAY Research Report No. 15). Melbourne, Australia: ACER Press.

Gago, J. M. et al. (2005). *Europe Needs More Scientists: Report by the High-Level Group on Increasing Human Resources for Science and Technology.* European Commission, DG Research, Science and Society Programme.

Gatt, S. (2000). Science education around the world. *Science Education International, 11* (1), 4-6. https://www.um.edu.mt/library/oar/bitstream/123456789/19174/1/OA%20-%20Science%20 Education%20in%20Malta.pdf

Gilmartin, S. K., Li, E., & Aschbacher, P. (2006). The relationship between secondary students' interest in physical science or engineering, science class experiences, and family contexts: Variations by gender and race/ethnicity. *Journal of Women and Minorities in Science and Engineering*, *12* (2-3), 179-207. DOI:10.1615/JWomenMinorScienEng.v12.i2-3.50

Harlen, W. (2013). Assessment & Inquiry-Based Science Education: Issues in Policy and Practice. Italy: Global Network of Science Academies Science Education Programme. https:// secondaryscience4all.files.wordpress.com/2013/12/report-on-assessment-and-inquiry-based-science-education-ibse1.pdf

Hasna, A. M., & Clark, R. (2009). *The future of engineering: How do we attract young people* [Conference session]. 37th Annual SEFI-the Société Européenne pour la Formation des Ingénieurs-European Society for Engineering Education, France. https://deakinsteme.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/STEM_Opening-up-Pathways-July_08.pdf

Huser, J. et al. (2020). *STEAM and the Role of the Arts in STEM*. New York: State Education Agency Directors of Arts Education.

Jobsplus. (2014). *National Employee Skills Survey*. National Commission for Further and Higher Education. https://secure.etc.gov.mt/JobsplusFlipbook/#p=14

Jonassen, D. H. (2000). Toward a design theory of problem solving. Educational *Technology Research and Development*, 48 (4), p. 6385. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02300500

Lathan, J. (n.d.). *Why STEAM is so Important to 21st Century Education*. University of San Diego - Master of Education. https://onlinedegrees.sandiego.edu/steam-education-in-schools/

Logan, M.R. and Skamp, K.R. (2013) The impact of teachers and their science teaching on students' 'science interest': A four-year study. *International Journal of Science Education*, 35 (17), 2879-2904. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2012.667167

Louise Archer et al. (2012). Science Aspirations, Capital, and Family Habitus: How Families Shape Children's Engagement and Identification with Science. *American Educational Research Journal, 49* (5), 881–908. DOI: 10.3102/0002831211433290

Lytle, A. and Shin, J. E. (2020). Incremental Beliefs, STEM Efficacy and STEM Interest among First-Year Undergraduate Students. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, *29* (2), 272-281. DOI:10.1007/s10956-020-09813-z

Magri, G. (2020, December 10). Malta ranks 35th out of 58 countries for Maths but registers improvement - Similar ranking for science in TIMSS study carried out last year. *Times of Malta*. https://timesofmalta.com/articles/view/malta-ranks-35th-out-of-58-countries-for-maths-but-registers.837836

Magro, M. (2018). *Trends and patterns in subject choice by science students at Sixth Form level* [Bachelor's dissertation]. https://www.um.edu.mt/library/oar/handle/123456789/35753

Massarani, L. et al. (2019). Adolescents learning with exhibits and explainers: the case of Maloka. *International Journal of Science Education, Part B,* 9 (3), 253-267. https://doi.org/10.1080/21548 455.2019.1646439

Ministry of Education, Employment, and the Family. (2011). *A vision for science education in Malta: Consultation document*. Malta: Salesian Press

Mintz, A. (2005). Science, society, and science centres. *História, Ciências, Saúde-Manguinhos*, 12, 267-280. http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0104-59702005000400013

Moldes, V.M., Biton, C.L., Gonzaga, D.J. and Moneva, J.C. (2019). Students, peer pressure and their academic performance in school. *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications, 9*, 1, 2250-3153. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.29322/IJSRP.9.01.2019.p8541

Musumeci, M. M., & Azzopardi, J. (2019, March). *Subject Choice and Performance in SEC Biology: Patterns According to Gender and School Type in Malta* [Paper presentation]. International Conference New Perspectives in Science Education 8th Edition, Florence, Italy. https://www. researchgate.net/publication/335201119_Subject_Choice_and_Performance_in_SEC_Biology_ Patterns_According_to_Gender_and_School_Type_in_Malta

Musumeci, M., & Pirotta, D. (2018, March). Choice in the Science Subjects: Trends in Malta. In *Conference Proceedings International Conference New Perspectives in Science Education 7th Edition, Italy: libreriauniversitaria. it Edizioni*, pp. 471-476.

National Research Council – NRC. (2009). *Learning science in informal environments: People, places, and pursuits*. Washington, DC: Committee on Learning Science in Informal Environments.

Oppliger, D., Oppliger, S., Raber, M., & Warrington, R. (2007). *Engineering enterprise alliance: A K-12 university and industry initiative to create a pathway to engineering and science careers*. ASEE Annual conference and Exposition Proceedings. http://www.icee.usm.edu/ICEE/conferences/ asee2007/papers/ 1695_ENGINEERING_ENTERPRISE_ALLIANCE_AK_12_.pdf

Palmer, D. (2007) What is the best way to motivate students in science? *Teaching Science*, *53* (1), 38–42. https://search.informit.org/doi/10.3316/aeipt.161785

PERFORM. (n.d.). *Project description.* Perform. https://www.perform-research.eu/about/ project-description/

PISA. (2018). *PISA 2018*. Directorate for Learning and Assessment Programmes. https:// curriculum.gov.mt/en/international_studies/Documents/PISA_2018_Malta_Report.pdf

Sefton-Green, J., 2012. *Learning at not-school: A review of study, theory, and advocacy for education in non-formal settings*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The MIT Press.

Sharklab-Malta. (2020, January 21). Sharklab-Malta – Research, Raising Awareness, Making a Difference. https://sharklab-malta.org/tiny-teen-science-cafe/Smyth, E. and Hannan, C. (2006). School effects and subject choice: The uptake of scientific subjects in Ireland. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 17* (3), 303–327. https://doi-org.ezproxy.is.ed.ac. uk/10.1080/09243450600616168.

Stake, J. E. (2006). Pedagogy and student change in the women's and gender studies classroom. *Gender and Education, 18* (2), 199-212. DOI: 10.1080/09540250500380687

Start Stem. (2020, November 12). The Office of the Permanent Secretary. https://newsbreak. edu.mt/2020/11/12/start-stem/

Stewart, O.G. and Jordan, M.E. (2017). "Some explanation here": a case study of learning opportunities and tensions in an informal science learning environment. *Instructional Science*, *45* (2), 137-156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-016-9396-7

TIMSS. (2019). *TIMSS 2019*. Directorate for Learning and Assessment Programmes. https:// curriculum.gov.mt/en/international_studies/Documents/TIMSS_2019_Malta_Report.pdf

Tsupros, N., R. Kohler, and J. Hallinen (2009). *STEM education: A project to identify the missing components.* Intermediate Unit 1: Center for STEM Education and Leonard Gelfand Center for Service Learning and Outreach. Pennsylvania: Carnegie Mellon University.

Tytler, R. (2007). *Re-imagining science education: Engaging students in science or Australia's future.* (1st ed.). Victoria: ACER Press.

Tytler, R., Osborne, J., Williams, G., Tytler, K. and Clark, J. C. (2008, June). *Opening up pathways: Engagement in STEM across the Primary-Secondary school transition* [Paper presentation]. Australian Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Australia.

White House. (2009, November 23). President Obama launches "Educate to Innovate" campaign for excellence in science, technology, engineering & math (STEM) education [Press release]. https:// obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/presidentobama-launches-educate-innovate-campaign-excellencescience-technology-en

Willsher, K. and Penman, J. (2011). Engaging with schools and increasing primary school students' interest in science: *An intersectoral collaboration. Education in Rural Australia, 21* (2), 87-103. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Kerre-Willsher/publication/283724009_Willsher_K_PenmanJ_2011_Engaging_with_schools_and_increasing_primary_school_students%27_interest_in_science_An_intersectorial_collaboration_Education_in_Rural_Australia_21_2_pp_87-104_Two_citations/links/56a7560708ae0fd8b3fdf9cb/Willsher-K-Penman-J-2011-Engaging-with-schools-and-increasing-primary-school-students-interest-in-science-An-intersectorial-collaboration-Education-interest-in-science-An-intersectorial-collaboration-Education-in-Rural-Australia-21-2-pp-87-104-Two-citation-Education-in-Rural-Austral-Australia-21-2-pp-87-104-Two-citation-Education-in-Rural-Austra

Wu-Rorrer, R. (2017). Filling the gap: Integrating STEM into career and technical education middle school programs: There is no single strategy for approaching STEM integration. *Technology and Engineering Teacher, 77* (2), 8. https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1G1-512776454/ filling-the-gap-integrating-stem-into-career-and

